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SUMMARY OF THE CASE 
 

 This appeal questions the sufficiency of the evidence for the conviction, as 

well as the district court’s sentence of thirty-three months, of Charlene Wanna on 

one count of aiding and abetting or committing misapplication of funds from an 

Indian Tribal organization in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§  1163 and 2. 

Wanna contends that the evidence at trial was insufficient to sustain her 

conviction beyond a reasonable doubt and that the district court committed error 

in determining her sentence and denying her motions for a downward departure or 

Booker variance based upon her serious health issues. 

Wanna requests fifteen (15) minutes for oral argument. 
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 STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 
 
 

I. Did the district court err in denying Wanna’s motion and renewed 
motion for judgment of acquittal? 

 
 The district court denied Wanna’s motion and renewed motion for 

judgment of acquittal and entered judgment on her conviction. 
 
● United States v. Janis, 556 F.3d 894 (8th Cir. 2009) 

  ● United States v. Robertson, 709 F.3d 741 (8th Cir. 2103).  

   ● United States v. Falcon, 477 F.3d 573 (8th Cir. 2007) 

 
 
II. Did the district court commit clear error in denying Wanna’s 

motion for a downward departure and variance? 
 

 The district court denied Wanna’s motion for a downward departure and 
variance and sentenced her to thirty-three months in prison. 

 
 ● United States v. Rickert, 685 F.3d 760 (8th Cir. 2012) 
 
 ● United States v. Varner, 678 F.3d 653 (8th Cir. 2012) 
 
 ● United States v. Chase, 560 F.3d 828 (8th Cir. 2009) 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
 

Throughout this brief, Appellant Charlene Wanna will be referred to as the 

defendant or “Wanna.”  Appellee United States will be referred to as the 

“government” or “prosecution.”  References to the transcript of the two-day jury 

trial held on November 26-27, 2012, will be designated as “T” followed by the 

appropriate page number.  References to the transcript of the April 16, 2013 

sentencing hearing will be designated as “SH” followed by the appropriate page 

number.  References to the docket entries of the clerk’s record below will be 

designated as “CR” followed by the appropriate docket number.  References to 

this brief’s addendum will be designated as “Add.” followed by the appropriate 

page number. 

 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 
 

The Decision Appealed:  Wanna appeals from the district court’s judgment 

and commitment in a criminal case entered upon the jury’s verdict of “guilty” on 

one count of Misapplication of Funds from an Indian Tribal Organization and 

Aiding and Abetting in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1163 and 2.  (CR 91) (Add. 1).  

Wanna was sentenced to thirty-three (33) months in prison, three years of 

supervised release, and restitution to the Heipa District of the Sisseton Wahpeton 
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Sioux Tribe in the amount of $345,965.00.  (CR 91) (Add. 1-5).  Judgment was 

entered on April 17, 2013.  (CR 91). 

District Court Jurisdiction: The United States District Court for the 

District of South Dakota had jurisdiction over Wanna’s prosecution pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 3231. 

Jurisdiction of this Court: This Court has jurisdiction over Wanna’s 

appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

Notice of Appeal: On April 22, 2013, Wanna timely filed her notice of 

appeal.  (CR 58). 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Nature of the case: This case involves the sufficiency of the evidence 

and appropriateness of the district court’s judgment of conviction and sentence of 

thirty-three months for Charlene Wanna, a military veteran suffering from serious 

health issues, on one count of Misapplication of Funds from an Indian Tribal 

Organization and Aiding and Abetting in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1163 and 2.  On 

appeal, Wanna respectfully suggests that her motions for judgment of acquittal 

should have been granted and that the district court abused its discretion in 

denying her motion for a downward departure for health reasons. 
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Procedural History: Indicted on April 4, 2012, Wanna was charged with 

one count of Misapplication of Funds from an Indian Tribal Organization and 

Aiding and Abetting in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1163 and 2.  (CR 1) (Add. 7).  On 

April 10, 2012, Wanna was arraigned before the Honorable William Gerdes, 

United States Magistrate Judge, and pleaded not guilty.  (CR 11).  

A jury trial was held on November 26-27, 2012, with the Honorable Charles 

B. Kornmann, United States District Judge, presiding.  At the close of the 

government’s case, Wanna made a motion for judgment of acquittal, which the 

district court denied.  (T 116).  Wanna renewed her motion for judgment of 

acquittal at the close of evidence, which the district court also denied.  (T 177). 

The jury returned a verdict of guilty.  (CR 76). 

Prior to sentencing, Wanna filed a motion for a downward departure or 

variance based on 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(D).  (SH 24) (Add. 24).  On April 16, 

2013, Wanna appeared before Judge Kornmann, who denied the motion for 

downward departure and variance and sentenced Wanna to a term of 

imprisonment of thirty-three (33) months, three years of supervised release, and 

restitution to the Heipa District of the Sisseton Wahpeton Sioux Tribe in the 

amount of $345,965.00.  (CR 91) (SH 24-25) (Add. 1-5, 17).  The district court’s 

judgment and commitment order was entered the following day.  (CR 91). 
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On April 22, 2013, Wanna timely filed her notice of appeal.  (CR 58).  

Because Wanna’s trial counsel subsequently accepted a position as a Magistrate 

Judge for the State of South Dakota (SH 14), this Court then appointed appellate 

counsel under the Criminal Justice Act. 

 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Charlene Wanna is a 62-year-old Native American woman and an honorably 

discharged veteran of the United States military with no prior criminal history and 

serious health issues, including chronic asthma, high blood pressure, high 

cholesterol levels, diverticulosis, noninfectious hepatitis, heart palpitations, a 

seizure disorder, bone loss, degenerative joint disease in her lumbar spine, right 

and left rotator cuff ruptures, and sleep apnea.  (SH 15, 22-23).  She is an enrolled 

member of the Sisseton-Wahpeton Sioux Tribe, lived on the Lake Traverse Indian 

Reservation, and was a member of the Heipa/Veblen district, a chartered entity 

under the Tribe.  (T 25, 118).  Wanna was first elected and began serving as the 

secretary for the Heipa district board in 2005.  (T 118).  She served in that capacity 

for four years until her resignation in 2009.  (T 174). 
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On January 2, 2007, Wanna took the oath of office for a new two-year term.  

(T 26, 121).  Elected with her were board members Lloyd Labelle, Jr. (Chairman), 

Jackie Wanna (Vice-chairman), and Tammie Strutz (Treasurer).  (T 25-26, 36, 140). 

On January 21, 2007, a meeting was held in which compensation for the 

district board members was set.  (T 38-39).  According to the minutes of this 

meeting, Wanna was entitled to receive $600 per month as a stipend to attend the 

district board meeting and that “Any meeting other than these must be brought 

back to the district meeting for approval… to see if the district wants to pay 

additional meetings and board members.”  (T 38-41; Ex. 3). 

In addition to serving on the district board, Wanna served on several 

additional boards in her work for the district, including the Construction Board, 

Youth Board, Powwow Board, Elderly Board, and Constitutional Revision Board.  

(T 120-21, 124).  Each of these boards had meetings that Wanna was required to 

attend.  (T 29-30, 31, 122, 124).  The Construction Board, for example, was 

supervising the construction of the new district center.  (T 124).  These meetings 

were not initiated by Wanna; rather, she simply handled the arrangements for 

setting up the meeting upon being instructed to do so by others.  (T 29-30, 34-35, 

102, 125-26, 167-68).  She also prepared minutes for each of the meetings.  (T 

131). 
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Wanna testified that she and the other district members were entitled to 

compensation for extra work in arranging, attending, and participating in each of 

these additional meetings.  (T 122, 126, 130).  Other government witnesses 

confirmed that district members were supposed to be compensated for every 

board meeting that they attend.  (T 45, 58-59, 113-14).  Wanna also was entitled to 

receive extra compensation for additional work for the district, such as cleaning 

district buildings, meeting with and assisting the district’s attorneys in legal actions, 

and assisting with elections.  (T 31, 120-21, 136-38). 

All four of the district board members had check-writing authority for the 

district.  (T 41-42).  From January 2007 to January 2009, Wanna received 436 

checks from the district amounting to approximately $111,0000, which she 

admitted to having cashed or deposited.  (T 66-74, 81, 141-42).  Many of these 

checks were written by Wanna to herself, and she wrote many of the checks that 

were issued to the other board members.  However, Wanna testified that all of the 

payments that she received were for work that she actually performed, primarily 

her attendance at various meetings, and that all of the payments to her were 

approved by the district and tribal council when they approved each of the 

treasurer’s monthly reports, which were publicly available and reflected all of the 

district’s financial transactions.  (T 34, 44-45, 56-57, 59, 61-62, 123, 127-28, 131-
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32, 134-35, 138, 142, 145-48, 152, 155).  This was done at the meeting held on the 

third Sunday of every month.  (T 59, 61-62, 123). 

In addition, each time that she issued a check, Wanna would document the 

work for which it had been issued on a check request form.  (T 139, 172-73).  

These forms, which turned up missing prior to the indictment, were supposed to 

be maintained by the district treasurer.  (T 46-47, 139, 173).  As Secretary, Wanna 

did not have the authority to transfer money between accounts; rather, that power 

was vested in the district treasurer.  (T 143-44). 

On July 20, 2008, there was some discussion at the district meeting 

regarding the compensation that district board members had been paid.  (T 135-

36).  A motion at that meeting was made to limit the compensation to a single 

stipend for one meeting per month.  (T 136).  The motion initially was passed.  (T 

136).  Later during that same meeting, however, a different motion was passed to 

rescind the earlier motion and continue to allow the payment of extra 

compensation for attending additional meetings and performing additional work.  

(T 136-37). 

In January of 2009, the district elected a new chairman, Jonathan Gill, who 

initiated an audit of the district’s finances at the membership’s request.  (T 48-50).  

This audit showed that over a two-year period from 2007-09, Wanna received 
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approximately $114,315 in compensation.  (T 86).  Of that amount, there was no 

documentation for $50,615.  (T 86).  It was admitted at trial, however, that the lack 

of documentation could be attributed to the Tribe’s poor job of maintaining 

records.  (T 90).  At trial, Wanna’s sister, Jacqueline Wanna, testified that the 

district board members had convened meetings at which they essentially wrote 

each other checks without conducting any business.  (T 96-99).  Charlene Wanna, 

however, adamantly denied that this occurred.  (T 158). 

 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

1.   Wanna’s judgment of conviction should be vacated because the district 

court erred in denying her motions for judgment of acquittal.  The evidence at trial 

demonstrated that Wanna, like other district members, was authorized to receive 

additional compensation for additional work, including attendance at additional 

meetings, so long as such payments were authorized by the district.  The evidence 

further demonstrated that the treasurer reports reflecting the district’s financial 

activities were approved by the district at its monthly meetings.  This approval 

negated the requirement that the government prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that Wanna willfully or knowingly committed the crime of Misapplication of 

Funds from an Indian Tribal Organization in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1163 and 2. 
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2.    In the alternative, Wanna’s sentence should be vacated and remanded 

for resentencing because the district court clearly erred in failing to grant her a 

downward departure or Booker variance based upon her substantial health issues. 

 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The standard of review for the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal 

is de novo.  See United States v. Janis, 556 F.3d 894, 897 (8th Cir. 2009).  At the same 

time, this Court has explained that sufficiency of the evidence challenges are 

reviewed with deference to the jury’s verdict: 

Although we review the district court’s denial of a motion for 
judgment of acquittal de novo, the underlying standard of review is 
highly deferential to the jury’s verdict.  We reverse only if no 
reasonable jury could have found the defendant guilty beyond a 
reasonable doubt.  We view the evidence in the light most favorable 
to the guilty verdict, granting all reasonable inferences that are 
supported by that evidence.  The standard for reviewing a claim of 
insufficient evidence is strict, and a jury’s guilty verdict should not be 
overturned lightly. 
 

United States v. Van Nguyen, 602 F.3d 886, 897 (8th Cir. 2010).  

A district court’s sentence is reviewed for abuse of discretion.  See United 

States v. Williams, 605 F.3d 556, 568 (8th Cir. 2010) (citing Gall v. United States, 552 

U.S. 38, 51 (2007)).  Its factual findings in relation to the sentencing are reviewed 

for clear error and its interpretation of the Sentencing Guidelines is reviewed de 
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novo.  See Williams, 605 F.3d at 568 (citations omitted).  Its application of the 

Sentencing Guidelines is also reviewed de novo.  See United States v. El-Alamin, 574 

F.3d 915, 927 (8th Cir. 2009) (citing United States v. Brown, 550 F.3d 724, 728 (8th 

Cir. 2008)).  This Court reviews the substantive reasonableness of a sentence for 

an abuse of discretion.  See United States v. Wilder, 597 F.3d 936, 946 (8th Cir. 2010). 

 

ARGUMENT 

I. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DENIAL OF WANNA’S 
MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AND VACATE 
HER CONVICTION. 

 
Charlene Wanna was convicted of aiding and abetting or committing one 

count of Misapplication of Funds from an Indian Tribal Organization in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 1163 (criminalizing conduct of anyone who “embezzles, steals, 

knowingly converts to his use or the use of another, willfully misapplies, or 

willfully permits to be misapplied, any of the moneys, funds, credits, goods, assets, 

or other property belonging to any Indian tribal organization” if the value of the 

property is greater than $1,000); see also Janis, 556 F.3d at 897-98.  As this Court has 

explained, this statute requires proof that the defendant knew that her conduct was 

wrongful.  See United States v. Robertson, 709 F.3d 741, 745 (8th Cir. 2103).  In other 

words, good faith is a complete defense to violations of statutes such as section 
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1163 if the good faith would negate the criminal intent required by the statute.  See 

id. at 746. 

Here, the evidence established that Wanna and other board members were 

entitled to receive additional compensation for extra work in arranging, attending, 

and participating in board meetings and other meetings, as well as for additional 

work for the district, such as cleaning district buildings, meeting with and assisting 

the district’s attorneys in legal actions, and assisting with elections, so long as the 

payments were approved by the district.  (T 31, 45, 58-59, 113-14, 120-22, 126, 

130, 136-38).  The evidence further demonstrated that all of the district’s business 

transactions, which would have included payments to board members, were 

approved by the district and tribal council when they approved each of the 

treasurer’s reports, copies of which were made available to all district members at 

the meetings.  (T 34, 44-45, 56-57, 59, 61-62, 123, 127-28, 131-32, 134-35, 138, 

142, 145-48, 152, 155).  The evidence further demonstrated that although some 

members of the district were briefly successful in passing a motion to prohibit the 

authorized practice of extra compensation for extra work, that motion was 

reversed.  (T 136-37).  This evidence negates the requirement that the government 

demonstrate that Wanna willfully embezzled, stole, converted, or misapplied tribal 

funds under section 1163, the sole crime of which Wanna was convicted, beyond 
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any reasonable doubt.  See United States v. Falcon, 477 F.3d 573, 579 (8th Cir. 2007).  

As a result, the district court erred in denying her motions for judgment of 

acquittal. 

 
II. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE WANNA’S SENTENCE AND 

REMAND FOR IMPOSITION OF A LESSER SENTENCE. 
 

In sentencing a criminal defendant, a district court’s ultimate charge is to 

impose a sentence sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to comply with the 

purposes of 18 U.S.C. 3353(a).  See United States v. Toothman, 543 F.3d 967, 971 (8th 

Cir. 2008).  As the Supreme Court has explained, “a district court should begin all 

sentencing proceedings by correctly calculating the applicable Guidelines range.”  

Gall v. United States, 552 U.S. 38, 49 (2007).  After affording both parties an 

opportunity to argue for whatever sentence they deem appropriate, a district court 

should then consider all of the factors under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) to determine 

whether they support the requested sentence.  See United States v. Feemster, 572 F.3d 

455, 461 (8th Cir. 2009) (en banc). 

In rendering its assessment, the district court is prohibited from presuming 

that the Guidelines range is reasonable.  See id.; Rita v. United States, 551 U.S. 338, 

351 (2007).  Rather, the court must “make an individualized assessment based on 

the facts presented.”  Feemster, 572 F.3d at 461 (quoting Gall, 552 U.S. at 50).  After 
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the district court determines the appropriate sentence based upon the section 

3553(a) factors, it must “adequately explain the chosen sentence to allow for 

meaningful appellate review and to promote the perception of fair sentencing.”  

Feemster, 572 F.3d at 461 (quoting Gall, 552 U.S. at 50). 

Wanna contends that the district court clearly erred or abused its discretion 

in failing to grant her a downward departure for extraordinary physical 

impairments pursuant to U.S.S.G. 5H1.4 and failing to adequately consider her 

need for medical care and grant her a Booker variance under 18 U.S.C. § 

3553(a)(2)(D) based upon her substantial health issues.  See United States v. Rickert, 

685 F.3d 760, 768 (8th Cir. 2012); United States v. Varner, 678 F.3d 653, 656 (8th 

Cir. 2012).  In fashioning a sentence that is “sufficient, but not greater than 

necessary,” district courts “are not only permitted, but required, to consider ‘the 

history and characteristics of the defendant.”  United States v. Chase, 560 F.3d 828, 

830 (8th Cir. 2009) (quoting United States v. White, 506 F.3d 635, 644 (8th Cir. 

2007)).  As a result, “factors such as a defendant’s age, medical condition, prior 

military service, family obligations, entrepreneurial spirit, etc., can form the basis 

for a variance even though they would not justify a departure.”  Chase, 560 F.3d at 

830-31 (citing White, 506 F.3d at 644); see also United States v. Ryder, 414 F.3d 908, 

920 (8th Cir. 2005); United States v. Lamoreaux, 422 F.3d 750, 756 (8th Cir. 2005). 

Appellate Case: 13-1898     Page: 19      Date Filed: 07/16/2013 Entry ID: 4055072  



15 

Charlene Wanna is a 62-year-old Native American woman and an honorably 

discharged veteran of the United States military with no prior criminal history.  

(SH 15, 22-23).  As the district court recognized, she has serious health issues, 

including chronic asthma, high blood pressure, high cholesterol levels, 

diverticulosis, noninfectious hepatitis, heart palpitations, a seizure disorder, bone 

loss, degenerative joint disease in her lumbar spine, right and left rotator cuff 

ruptures, and sleep apnea.  (SH 15, 22-23).  Her sentence of 33 months warranted 

either a downward departure or variance under these circumstances.  The district 

court committed clear error in declining to grant either motion. 

CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, Charlene Wanna’s conviction should be vacated and 

remanded with instructions to enter a judgment of acquittal.  In the alternative, her 

sentence should be vacated and remanded for resentencing with an appropriate 

downward departure or variance based upon her serious health issues. 

Dated this 15th day of July, 2013. 

    JOHNSON, HEIDEPRIEM & ABDALLAH LLP 
     
     BY   /s/  Ronald A. Parsons, Jr.    
           Ronald A. Parsons, Jr. 
           101 S. Main Ave, Suite 100 
           Sioux Falls, SD 57104 
           (605) 338-4304 

                  Counsel for Appellant Charlene Wanna
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